CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED
DIRECTORS’ REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024



CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED
REPORT OF DIRECTORS

The directors of CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED (the “Company”) present their annual
report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 (“Current Financial
Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is principally engaged in underwriting of general insurance business in Hong Kong.
RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The financial results of the Company for the Current Financial Year are set out in the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income on page 4.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.
SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
There was no movement in the Company’s share capital for the Current Financial Year.

Movements in the reserves of the Company during the Current Financial Year are set out in the statement of
changes in equity on page 6.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the Current Financial Year in the property and equipment of the Company are
set out in note 17 to the financial statements.

INVESTMENT IN A SUBSIDIARY
Details of investment in a subsidiary are set out in note 18 to the financial statements.
DIRECTORS

The names of the Directors during the Current Financial Year and up to the date of this report were:

Directors

Ms. Leung Bo Yee Nancy
Mr. Lau Lyon

Mr. Tse Shu Pui, Antonio
Mr. Chan Man Hon

Non-executive directors
Mr. Kwan Ka Wo Wilson
Mr. Tan Bong Loo

In accordance with clause 22 of the Company’s amended and restated Articles of Association, the existing
directors retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Except as disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements, no transactions, arrangements or contracts that is
significant in relation to the Company’s business to which the Company was a party and in which a director of
the Company or its connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts for management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

(A) Financial results and review of the Company’s performance

Insurance revenue

The insurance revenue decreased by 2.2% to approximately HK$47.0 million (Prior Financial Year:
HK $48.0 million).

Insurance service result

The insurance service result increased by 696.0% to approximately HK$12.1 million (Prior Financial Year:
HK$1.5 million). The increase is mainly caused by a decrease in claims incurred in the Current Financial
Year.

Net investment results and other income, other (losses) and gains

The net investment income and other income, other (losses) and gain was approximately HK$4.8 million
(Prior Financial Year: HK$5.1 million).

Total operating expenses (including insurance acquisition cash flows, other incurred expenses directly
attributable to insurance contracts and other operating expenses)

The total operating expenses were approximately HK$31.0 million (Prior Financial Year: HK$31.0 million).
Profit before tax

During the Current Financial Year, the Company’s profit before tax was approximately HK$11.5 million
(Prior Financial Year: HK$2.8 million). The increase in profit before tax was due to decrease in net claims
incurred in the Current Financial Year.

Taxation

For the Current Financial Year, the Company’s income tax expenses were HK$0.6 million (Prior Financial

Year: HK$0.3 million), which mainly represented the deferred tax charge for the Current Financial Year.

- -
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Accumulated losses

Accumulated losses carried forward at 31 December 2024 and 2023 was approximately HK$54.4 million
and HK$65.3 million, respectively.

(B) Key performance indicators

Current Prior
Financial Financial
Financial KPIs Formula Used Year Year
Investment Yield Annualised Total Investment Income 4.7% 4.6%
/ Average Investment Assets
Underwriting Combined Ratio [insurance service expenses + net 71.7% 97.7%
expenses/(income) from reinsurance
contracts held + (finance
expenses/(income) from insurance
contracts issued — finance
income/(expenses) from reinsurance
contracts held)]/ insurance revenue
HKRBC Solvency Margin Ratio > | Eligible Capital / Prescribed Capital 215.7% N/A?
Requirements
Net Assets to Total Assets Ratio Net Assets / Total Assets 46.4% 42.2%
Asset to Debt Ratio Total Assets / Total Liabilities 186.5% 173.1%

1. Average Investment Assets

= (Beginning balance of investment assets  +
Ending balance of investment assets) / 2

2. HKRBC Solvency Margin Ratio is determined in accordance with Insurance (Valuation and Capital) Rules (“IVCR”),
which has been effective since 1 July 2024. No such ratio is disclosed for Prior Financial Year as IVCR was not

effective.

(C) Environmental policies and performance

The Company advocate several resources saving initiatives in its daily operation as below:

(1) Encourage double-sided printing

(2) Encourage electronic documentation and communication

(3) Maintain air-conditioning at an average temperature of 25 degrees Celsius

(4) Switch off lights, air-conditioners and computers when they are not in use

- 1il -




CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED
REPORT OF DIRECTORS

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

(D) Key statutory requirements for the Company

The Company is under the supervision of the Insurance Authority (IA).  The principal function of IA is
to regulate and supervise the insurance industry to promote the general stability of the insurance industry
and protect policy holders.

According to the Guideline on Application for Authorization to Carry on Insurance Business in or from
Hong Kong (GLS5) by IA, authorization to carry on insurance business in or from Hong Kong will only be
granted to those insurers who meet the authorization requirements stipulated under section 8 of the
Ordinance, which focus mainly on the following criteria:

Capital requirements — Rule 5(1) of IVCR sets out the capital requirements of an applicable insurer. The
applicable insurer must ensure at all times that its capital base as determined under IVCR is not less than
each of —

> the prescribed capital amount of the insurer as determined under IVCR;

»  the minimum capital amount of the insurer as determined under IVCR; and
> HK$20,000,000.

Fitness and Properness of Directors and Controllers — IA has to be satisfied that the directors and
controllers of the applicant are fit and proper persons to hold such positions. In consideration, the IA will
take into account all relevant factors as set out in section 14A of the Ordinance, including qualifications,
experience, ability to act competently, honestly and fairly, reliability and integrity, as well as financial status.
The Guideline on “Fit and Proper” criteria under the Insurance Ordinance (Cap.41) (GL 4) containing details
in this connection has also been issued by the IA.

Adequacy of Reinsurance Arrangements — According to the Ordinance, the insurer is required to ensure
adequate arrangements are in force for the reinsurance of risks of those classes of insurance being carried
on. The insurer must also ensure the Company is financially sound and competent to provide adequate level
of services to the insuring public. The Company has arranged reinsurance treaties and facultative outward
with local renowned reinsurers to diversify the insurance risk.

(E) Risks and uncertainties facing the Company

The Company faces both internal risks arising from events taking place within the organization that are
controllable and external risks arising due to the uncertainties of the business environment which are
uncontrollable.

Technology risk — the new IT technology and common use of mobile device and applications has
transformed the insurance business models and customers’ behaviors. The Company has planned for
increasing use of Web-based platform and mobile application in product promotion, product sale and
customer servicing in the insurance industry. The Company will continue to upgrade our technologies, to
improve customers’ experience and operational efficiency as well as to support the adoption of Insurance
Fraud Prevention Claims Database, risk-based capital framework and new accounting standards.

v -
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

(F) Future development of the Company

The Company has laid down a lot of directives in the coming few years so as to make the Company
financially stronger and more sustainable. These include the launching of several IT-related projects to
streamline the sales and claim process, enhance cost-effectiveness, uplift customers experience; and also the
Company to has a 360 degree review and assessment of the current & upcoming risk profiles, so as to ensure
the Company will be in a ready state to welcome the coming of the ERM and RBC regime as mentioned in
Para (E).

On top of that, the Company will continue to develop online business platforms which provides a convenient
customer journey to our customers. The Company will also expand our underwriting capabilities and
distribution channels and provide professional and quality services to our customer.

(G) The Company’s key relationships with its customers, employees, suppliers and others that have a
significant impact on the Company and on which the Company’s success depends

Relationship with Customers

The Company endeavors to offer a wide range of general insurance services that provide quality protection
with value pricing which cater to the needs of individuals and corporate customers of Hong Kong. With our
current management team which comprises well qualified insurance professionals with wealth of experience
and expertise, we are competent to provide quality services that exceeds customers’ expectations.

Relationship with Employees

The Company believes that its employees are valuable and vital assets to its business. There were no material
non-compliance cases concluded regarding Employment and Discrimination laws and regulations.

Going beyond legal compliance, the Company adopt a people-centric philosophy in our human resources
strategy and policies to create a respectful, productive and rewarding working environment for our
employees. Fair recruitment and promotion processes are implemented based on factors such as experience
and performance. Moreover, we make a great effort in training our employees while also providing
opportunities for professional and personal advancement.

Relationship with Business Partners (Reinsurers, Agents, Brokers, Suppliers)

Throughout the years, the Company has gained strong support from world-class renowned reinsurers in
achieving balanced portfolio with appropriate risk management and has not experienced any reinsurers
wishing to terminate business relationship with us.

The Company is endowed with a group of competent agents and brokers, working closely to build a healthy
business portfolio and, at the same time, provide professional services to customers. Over the past yeat,
the Company had been working more closely with some international brokers, aiming to broaden the
Company’s business opportunities.

Tt is the Company’s policy to go through a proper procurement process for any non-routine and significant
purchases for goods and/or services and to maintain good relationships with suppliers whereby all payments
are made promptly with no significant disputes noted.
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DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the amended and restated Articles of Association of the Company and the Companies Ordinance,
every director may be indemnified out of the Company’s assets against any liability incurred by the director to
a person other than the Company or an associated company of the Company in connection with any negligence,

default, breach of duty or breach of trust in relation to the Company or associated company (as the case may be).

Throughout the Current Financial Year, the Company has maintained directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
policy to indemnify potential liability that a director and/or officer may incur as a result of their office.

AUDITOR
The financial statements have been audited by Messrs. Graham H. Y. Chan & Co. who retire and, being eligible,

offer themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Leung Bo Yee Nancy
Chairman
Hong Kong, 25 June 2025

Vi -



GRAHAM H. Y. CHAN & CO.

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS (PRACTISING)
HONG KONG

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF

CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of California Insurance Company Limited (the “Company”) set out on
pages 4 to 65 which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for
the year ended 31 December 2024, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at
31 December 2024, and of its financial performance and its cash flow for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants ("the Code"), and we have fulfilled our other
cthical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Report of Directors, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or

our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

-1-
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF

CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED - CONTINUED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional Jjudgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, mistepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Company's internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF

CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED - CONTINUED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

C/\m\\m\m M\[ QAG\V\ QA COA

Graham H.Y. Chan & Co.

Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Suite 2604, 26/F, AIA Kowloon Tower,
Landmark East, 100 How Ming Street,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon,

Hong Kong

25 June 2025



CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Note

Insurance revenue 8
Insurance service expenses
Net expenses from reinsurance contracts held

Insurance service result

Finance income/(expenses) from insurance contracts issued
Finance (expenses)/income from reinsurance contracts held
Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method 9
Other investment income 9
Other income, other gains and losses, net 9
Other operating expenses

—_

0
Profit before tax

Income tax expenses 12
Profit for the year

Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Changes in the fair value of debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Deficit on revaluation of leasehold land and building
Income tax relating to revaluation of leasehold land and
building 20

Other comprehensive loss for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

2024 2023
HKS$ HKS$
46,969,357 48,021,100
(27,372,361) (38,669,203)
(7,457,071) (7,826,860)
12,139,925 1,525,037
1,600,936 (761,664)
(432,759) 339,901
4,966,202 4,339,898
175,776 138,099
(306,442) 586,388
(6,618,852) (3,380,377)
11,524,786 2,787,282
(585,863) (341,463)
10,938,923 2,445,819
531,212 835,855
531,212 835,855
(3,550,689) (2,069,473)
585,863 341,463
(2,964,826) (1,728,010)
(2,433,614) (892,155)
8,505,309 1,553,664




CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024
Note 2024 2023
HKS$ HK$
Assets
Bank balances and cash 13 95,895,407 88,018,050
Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss 14 1,692,840 1,672,600
Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income 15 24,628,947 19,887,364
Reinsurance contract assets 16 19,121,481 23,958,979
Property and equipment 17 38,040,310 42,368,109
Investment in a subsidiary 18 - 150,000
Deposits, prepayments, interest and other receivables 19 1,854,691 2,790,869
Total assets 181,233,676 178,845,971
Liabilities
Insurance contract liabilities 16 90,500,901 99,924,801
Reinsurance contract liabilities 16 216,385 28,248
Cash collateral received from customers 2,162,929 333,823
Other payables and accruals 4,316,696 3,027,643
97,196,911 103,314,515
Net assets 84,036,765 75,531,456
Capital and reserves
Share capital 21 104,425,418 104,425,418
Reserves (20,388,653) (28,893,962)
Total equity

84,036,765 75,531,456

The financial statements on pages 4 to 65 are approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25
June 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Leuné Bo Yee Nanc Lau Lyon
Director and Chairman of the Board Director



CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

As at 1 January 2023

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive loss for
the year:

Changes in the fair value of
debt investments at fair
value through other
comprehensive income

Deficit on revaluation of
leasehold land and building

Income tax relating to
revaluation of leasehold
land and building

Total comprehensive
(loss)/income for the year

At 31 December 2023

As at 1 January 2024

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive loss for
the year:

Changes in the fair value of
debt investments at fair
value through other
comprehensive income

Deficit on revaluation of
leasehold land and building

Income tax relating to
revaluation of leasehold
land and building

Total comprehensive
(loss)/income for the year

At 31 December 2024

Property Investment
Share revaluation revaluation  Accumulated

capital reserve reserve losses Total
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
104,425,418 38,947,560 (1,624,850) (67,770,336) 73,977,792
- - - 2,445,819 2,445,819

- - 835,855 - 835,855
- (2,069,473) - - (2,069,473)

- 341,463 - - 341,463

- (1,728,010) 835,855 2,445,819 1,553,664
104,425,418 37,219,550 (788,995) (65,324,517) 75,531,456
104,425,418 37,219,550 (788,995) (65,324,517) 75,531,456
- - - 10,938,923 10,938,923

- - 531,212 - 531,212
- (3,550,689) - - (3,550,689)

- 585,863 - - 585,863

- (2,964,826) 531,212 10,938,923 8,505,309
104,425,418 34,254,724 (257,783) (54,385,594) 84,036,765




CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Cash flows from operating activities:
Profit before tax

Adjustment for:
Depreciation
Impairment of investment in a subsidiary
Unrealised gain on fair value changes of
investments at fair value through profit or loss

Realised gain on disposal of investments at fair value through

profit or loss
Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Dividend income

Finance (income)/expenses from insurance contracts issued
Finance expenses /(income) from reinsurance contracts held
Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method

Operating cash flows before working capital changes

Decrease/(increase) in deposits, prepayments and
other receivables

Decrease in reinsurance contract receivables

(Decrease)/increase in insurance and reinsurance
contract liabilities

Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Dividend received
Interest received
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Purchase of investments at fair value through profit or loss

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment

Proceeds from investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income upon maturity

Proceeds from sale of investments at fair value through
profit or loss

Net cash generated from investing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

2024
Note HKS$

11,524,786

10 777,110
10 150,000
9 (20,240)

O O

9 (155,536)
(1,600,936)
432,759
(4,966,202)

O

6,141,741

520,204
4,404,739

(7,634.,827)
3,118,159

6,550,016

155,536
5,382,176

(7,730,176)

3,519,805

1,327,341

7,877,357
88,018,050

13 95,895,407

2023
HK$

2,787,282

914,619

(8,360)

(17,500)
(220,000)
(112,239)

761,664
(339,901)

(4,339,898)

(574,333)

(802,848)
3,823,253

1,406,685
(5,941,783)

(2,089,026)

112,239
3,975,365
(807,708)

(6,204,970)
(88,400)
220,000

5,451,941

1,610,000

4,268,467

2,179,441
85,838,609

88,018,050



CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. General information

California Insurance Company, Limited (the “Company™) is a limited company incorporated and domiciled
in Hong Kong and registered under the Hong Kong Insurance Ordinance (the “Insurance Ordinance™) as
duly authorised to write certain categories under general insurance business. The registered office and
principal place of business of the Company is located at Rooms 1607-8, 16th Floor, China Insurance Group
Building, 141 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.

The Company is principally engaged in underwriting of general insurance business in Hong Kong.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar, which is the same as the functional currency of
the Company.

2. Basis of preparation and changes of accounting policy
2.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards (“HKFRSs”),
which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA™), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. For the purpose of preparation of the financial
statements, information is considered material if such information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users.

These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for Jeasehold land and
building and certain financial instruments which are measured at revalued amounts and fair values
respectively, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Company takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these financial information is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 16 and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realizable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorized into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance
of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:
- Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement date;
- Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
- Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

-8~



CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2. Basis of preparation and changes of accounting policy (continued)

2.2 Application of interpretation and amendments to HKFRSs

In current year, the Company has applied, for the first time, the following interpretation and amendments to
HKFRSs which are mandatory effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2024 for the
preparation of the Company’s financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of liabilities as Current or Non Current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-Current Liabilities with Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7 and ~ Supplier Finance Arrangements
HKFRS 7

The adoption of the above amendments had no material impact on the Company’s financial statements.
2.3 New standards and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet effective not yet adopted

The Company has not early applied the following new standards and amendments to HKFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet effective in these financial statements:

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 3

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures >

Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
HKFRS Accounting Standards ~ HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72
- Volume 11

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of
HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments *

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
and HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture *

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability !

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
Effective for annual/reporting petiods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

B WD =

None of these new standards and amendments to HKFRSs is expected to have a significant effect on the
financial statements of the Company.



CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
3. Material accounting policy information

Insurance contracts

Definition and classification

Insurance contracts are contracts under which the Company accepts significant insurance risk from a
policyholder by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event adversely
affects the policyholder. In making this assessment, all substantive rights and obligations, including those
arising from law or regulation, are considered on a contract-by-contract basis. The Company uses judgement
to assess whether a contract transfers insurance risk (that is, if there is a scenario with commercial substance
in which the Company has the possibility of a loss on a present value basis) and whether the accepted
insurance risk is significant.

Contracts that have a legal form of insurance but do not transfer significant insurance risk and expose the
Company to financial risk are classified as investment contracts, and they follow financial instruments
accounting under HKFRS 9 if they do not contain a discretionary participation feature (“DPF”). The
Company does not issue any investment contracts with DPF.

In the normal course of business, the Company uses reinsurance to mitigate its risk exposures. A reinsurance
contract transfers significant risk if it transfers substantially all of the insurance risk resulting from the
insured portion of the underlying insurance contracts, even if it does not expose the reinsurer to the
possibility of a significant loss.

All references to insurance contracts in the financial statements apply to insurance contracts issued
(including reinsurance contracts issued) and reinsurance contracts held, unless specifically stated otherwise.

Unit of accounts

Level of aggregation of insurance contracts

The Company categorises insurance contracts subject to similar risks and managed together into the same
portfolio. The Company further divides each portfolio into contract groups based on the profitability level,
degree of loss, or the possibility of future losses after initial recognition.

The Company divides a portfolio of insurance contracts issued into a minimum of:

(1) a group of contracts that are onerous at initial recognition, if any;

(2) a group of contracts that at initial recognition have no significant possibility of becoming onerous
subsequently, if any; and

(3) a group of the remaining contracts in the portfolio, if any.

The Company divides a portfolio of reinsurance contracts held into a minimum of:

(1) a group of contracts on which there is a net gain on initial recognition, if any;

(2) a group of contracts that at initial recognition have no significant possibility of generating a net gain
subsequently, if any; and

(3) a group of the remaining contracts in the portfolio, if any.

The Group does not include contracts issued or held more than one year apart in the same group.
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CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. Material accounting policy information (continued)
Insurance contracts (continued)

Unit of accounts (continued)

Separation of insurance contracts

If an insurance contract contains multiple components, the Company will separate the following components:
(1) cash flows relating to embedded derivatives that are required to be separated,

(2) cash flows relating to distinct investment components; and

(3) promises to transfer distinct goods or distinct services other than insurance contract services.

The Company applies HKFRS 17 to all remaining components of the contract.

Recognition of insurance contracts

Groups of insurance contracts issued are initially recognised from the earliest of the following:

(1) the beginning of the coverage period;

(2) the date when the first payment from the policyholder is due or actually received, if there is no due date;
and

(3) when the Company determines that a group of contracts becomes onerous.

Groups of reinsurance contracts held are recognised as follows:

(1) a group of reinsurance contracts held that provide proportionate coverage (quota share reinsurance) is
recognised at the later of:
i. the beginning of the coverage period of the group; and
ii. the initial recognition of any underlying insurance contract,

(2) all other groups of reinsurance contracts held are recognised from the beginning of the coverage period
of the group of reinsurance contracts held.

Unless the Company entered into the reinsurance contract held at or before the date when an onerous group
of underlying contracts is recognised prior to the beginning of the coverage period of the group of
reinsurance contracts held, in which case the group of reinsurance contract held is recognised at the same
time as the group of underlying insurance contracts is recognised.

Measurement of insurance contracts

Insurance acquisition cash flows

The Company defines acquisition cash flows as cash flows that arise from costs of selling, underwriting and
starting a group of insurance contracts and that are directly attributable to the portfolio of insurance contracts
to which the group belongs.

Fulfilment cash flows (“FCF”) and contract boundary

The FCF, which comprises:
(1) estimates of future cash flows;
(2) an adjustment to reflect the time value of money and the financial risks related to the future cash flows,
to the extent that the financial risks are not included in the estimates of the future cash flows; and
(3) arisk adjustment for non-financial risk.
-11 -



CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. Material accounting policy information (continued)
Insurance contracts (continued)

Measurement of insurance contracts (continued)

Fulfilment cash flows (“FCF”) and contract boundary (continued)

The estimates of future cash flows;

(1) are based on a probability-weighted mean of the full range of possible outcomes;

(2) are determined from the perspective of the Company, provided that the estimates are consistent with
observable market prices for market variables; and

(3) reflect conditions existing at the measurement date.

The Company adjusts the estimate of the present value of the future cash flows to reflect the compensation
that the entity requires for bearing the uncertainty about the amount and timing of the cash flows that arises
from non-financial risk.

The measurement of the FCF of a group of contracts does not reflect the Company’s non-performance risk.

The Company uses the concept of contract boundary to determine what cash flows should be considered in
the measurement of groups of insurance contracts. Estimates of cash flows in a scenario include all cash
flows within the boundary of an existing contract and no other cash flows. The Company does not consider
any amounts relating to expected premiums or expected claims outside the boundary of the insurance
contract.

Insurance contracts issued measured under the GMM
(a) Initial measurement
The Company measures the insurance contracts at group level.
On initial recognition, the Company measures a group of contracts as the total of the FCF and the CSM.

The CSM is a component of the carrying amount of the asset or liability for a group of insurance
contracts issued representing the unearned profit that the Company will recognize as it provides
insurance contract services in the future.

At initial recognition, the CSM is an amount that results in no income or expenses (unless a group of
contracts is onerous) arising from:

(1) the initial recognition of the FCF;

(2) cash flows arising from the contracts in the group at that date; and

(3) the derecognition of any other pre-recognition cash flows.

When the above calculation results in a new outflow, the group of insurance contracts issued is onerous.
A loss from onerous insurance contracts is recognised in profit or loss immediately, with no CSM
recognised on the statement of financial position on initial recognition, and a loss component is
established in the amount of loss recognised.
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CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. Material accounting policy information (continued)

Insurance contracts (continued)

Measurement of insurance contracts (continued)

Insurance contracts issued measured under the GMM (continued)

(b) Subsequent measurement

The carrying amount of a group of insurance contracts issued at the end of each reporting period shall
be the sum of:

(D

@)

the liability for remaining coverage (“LRC”), comprising:

i. the FCF related to future service allocated to the group at that date; and

ii. the CSM of the group at that date.

the liability for incurred claims (“LIC”), comprising the FCF related to past service allocated to the
group at that date.

For insurance contracts issued, the carrying amount of the CSM of a group of contracts at the end of the
reporting period equals the carrying amount at the start of the reporting period adjusted for:

(1)
@
3)

“)
)

the effect of any new contracts added to the group during the reporting period;

interest accreted on the carrying amount of the CSM during the reporting period;

the changes in FCF relating to future services as, except to the extent that:

i such increases in the FCF exceed the carrying amount of the CSM, giving rise to a loss; or

ii. such decreases in the FCF are allocated to the loss component of the LRC.

the effect of any currency exchange differences on the CSM; and

the amount recognised as insurance revenue because of the transfer of the insurance contract
services in the period, determined by the allocation of the CSM remaining at the end of the reporting
period (before any allocation) over the current and remaining coverage period.

For the following changes in FCF that relate to future service, an adjustment to the CSM is required:

(M
@

®)

4)

experience adjustments arising from premiums received in the period that relate to future services,
and related cash flows such as insurance acquisition cash flows and premium-based taxes;
changes in estimates of the present value of future cash flows in the LRC, except the effect of the
time value of money and changes in the time value of money and the effect of financial risk and
changes in financial risks;

difference between any investment component expected to become payable in the period and the
actual investment component that becomes payable in the period. Those differences are determined
by comparing (i) the actual investment component that becomes payable in the period with (ii) the
payment in the period that was expected at the start of the period plus any insurance finance income
or expenses related to that expected payment before it becomes payable; and

changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk that relate to future service.
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CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. Material accounting policy information (continued)
Insurance contracts (continued)

Measurement of insurance contracts (continued)

Insurance contracts issued measured under the GMM (continued)
(c) Measurement of onerous contracts

An insurance contract is onerous at the date of initial recognition if the FCF allocated to the contract,
any previously recognised insurance acquisition cash flows and any cash flows arising from the contract
at the date of initial recognition in total are a net outflow. The Company recognises a loss in profit or
loss for the net outflow for the group of onerous contracts, resulting in the carrying amount of the liability
for the group being equal to the FCF and the CSM of the group being zero.

If estimates of future cash flows and the risk adjustment for non-financial risk relating to future service
resulting changes and a group of insurance contracts become onerous on subsequent measurement
because of the increase of FCF exceeds the carrying amount of the CSM, the Company recognises a loss
in profit or loss to the extent of that excess.

The Company reverses the loss component of LRC and insurance service expenses for the decrease of
the estimates in FCF and non-financial risk adjustments relating to future services. If the decrease of
LRC exceeds the loss component amount, the CSM is recognised.

After the Company has recognised a loss on an onerous group of insurance contracts, the Company

allocates the subsequent changes in the LRC on a systematic basis between the loss component and the

others. The subsequent changes in the LRC to be allocated are:

(1) estimates of the present value of future cash flows for claims and expenses released from the LRC
because of incurred insurance service expenses;

(2) changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk recognised in profit or loss because of the
release from risk; and

(3) insurance finance income or expenses.

The amounts allocated to loss component are not recognised in insurance revenue during the reporting
period.

Insurance contracts issued measured under the PAA
(a) Initial measurement

The Company simplifies the measurement of a group of insurance contracts using the PAA if, and only

if any of the conditions below is satisfied, at the inception of the group:

(1) the Company reasonably expects that the resulting measurement of the LRC would not differ
materially from the result of applying the accounting policies for insurance contracts measured
under the GMM.

(2) the coverage period of each contract in the group is one year or less.

For insurance contracts issued, on initial recognition, the Company measures the LRC at the amount of
premiums received, less any acquisition cash flows on that date.
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CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. Material accounting policy information (continued)
Insurance contracts (continued)

Measurement of insurance contracts (continued)

Insurance contracts issued measured under the PAA (continued)
(b) Subsequent measurement

The carrying amount of a group of insurance contracts issued at the end of each reporting period is the
sum of:

(1) the LRC; and

(2) the LIC, comprising the FCF related to past service allocated to the group at the reporting date.

For insurance contracts issued, at the end of each subsequent reporting period, the carrying amount of

the LRC is the carrying amount at the start of the reporting period:

- plus the premiums received in the period;

- minus insurance acquisition cash flows;

- plus any amounts relating to the amortization of insurance acquisition cash flows recognised as an
expense in the reporting period;

- plus any adjustment to a financing component;

- minus the amount recognised as insurance revenue for services provided in that period;

- minus any investment component paid or transferred to the LIC.

The Company adjusts the carrying amount of the LRC to reflect the time value of money and the effect
of financial risk using the discount rates determined on initial recognition. The LRC calculated as such
is treated as the LRC without loss component for the onerous group of insurance contracts issued
measured under the PAA.

For contracts measured under the PAA, the LIC is measured similarly to the LIC’s measurement under
the GMM. Future cash flows are adjusted for the time value of money and other financial risks.

(¢) Measurement of onerous contracts

If facts and circumstances indicate that a group of insurance contract is onerous on initial recognition or
become onerous subsequently, the Company increases the carrying of the LRC to the amount of the FCF
determined under the GMM with the amount of such an increase recognised in the insurance service
expenses, and a loss component is established for the amount of the loss recognised.

In subsequent periods, the loss component is remeasured at each reporting date in the same way as that
for initial recognition, being the difference between the current estimates of the FCF that relate to the
remaining coverage and the carrying amount of the LRC without loss component, subject to minimum
of zero. The changes in the amount of loss component are recognised within the insurance service
expenses.
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CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. Material accounting policy information (continued)
Insurance contracts (continued)

Measurement of insurance contracts (continued)

Reinsurance contracts held measured under the GMM

On initial recognition, the Company measures a group of reinsurance contracts held as the total of the FCF
and the CSM.

For reinsurance contracts held, the CSM represents a deferred gain or loss that the Company will recognise
as a reinsurance expense as it receives insurance contract services from the reinsurer in the future.

The Company uses consistent assumptions to measure the estimates of the present value of the future cash
flows for the group of reinsurance contracts held and the estimates of the present value of the future cash
flows for the group(s) of underlying insurance contracts. In addition, the Company includes in the estimates
of the present value of the future cash flows for the group of reinsurance contracts held the effect of any risk
of non-performance by the issuer of the reinsurance contract.

The Company determines the risk adjustment for non-financial risk so that it represents the amount of risk
being transferred by the holder of the group of reinsurance contracts to the issuer of those contracts.

On initial recognition, the Company recongises any net cost or net gain on purchasing the group of

reinsurance contracts held as a CSM measured at an amount equal to the sum of the following items:

(1) the FCF;

(2) the amount derecognised at that date of any asset or liability previously recognised for cash flows related
to the group of reinsurance contracts held;

(3) any cash flows arising at that date; and

(4) any income recognised in profit or loss when the Company recognises a loss on initial recognition of an
onerous group of underlying insurance contracts.

The carrying amount at the end of each reporting period of a group of reinsurance contracts held is the sum
of the asset for remaining coverage (“ARC”) and the asset for incurred claims (“AIC”).

The ARC comprises the FCF related to future service allocated to the group at that date and the CSM of the
group at that date.

The AIC comprises the FCF related to past service allocated to the group at the reporting date.

The Company adjusts the CSM of the group to which a reinsurance contract held belongs and as a result
recognise income when it recognises a loss on initial recognition of onerous underlying contracts, if the
reinsurance contract held is entered into before or at the same time as the onerous underlying contracts are
recognised. The adjustment to the CSM, whereby a loss-recovery component is established, is determined
by multiplying:

(1) the loss recognised on the underlying insurance contracts; and

(2) the percentage of claims on the underlying insurance contracts the Company expects to recover from the

group of reinsurance contracts held.
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CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. Material accounting policy information (continued)
Insurance contracts (continued)

Measurement of insurance contracts (continued)

Reinsurance contracts held measured under the GMM (continued)

Subsequently, the loss-recovery component is adjusted to reflect changes in the loss component of an
onerous group of underlying insurance contracts. The loss-recovery component is further adjusted, if
required, to ensure that it does not exceed the portion of the carrying amount of the loss component of the
onerous group of underlying insurance contracts that the Company expects to recover from the group of
reinsurance contracts held.

The Company measures the CSM at the end of the reporting period for a group of reinsurance contracts held
as the carrying amount determined at the start of the reporting period, adjusted for:

(1) the effect of any new contracts added to the group;

(2) interest accreted on the carrying amount of the CSM; and

(3) income recognised in profit or loss when the Company recognises a loss on addition of onerous
underlying insurance contracts to that group. A loss-recovery component is established or adjusted
within the ARC for reinsurance contracts held for the amount of income recognised;

(4) reversals of a loss-recovery component other than changes in the FCF of reinsurance contracts held;

(5) changes in the FCF, to the extent that the change relates to future service, unless the change results from
(i) a change in FCF allocated to a group of underlying insurance contracts that does not adjust the CSM
for the group of underlying insurance contracts; or (ii) the recognition and remeasurement of loss
component for the group of underlying insurance contracts issued measured under the PAA;

(6) the effect of any currency exchange differences; and

(7) the amount recognised in profit or loss for insurance contract services received during the period,
determined by the allocation of the CSM remaining at the end of the reporting period (before any
allocation) over the current and remaining coverage period of the group of reinsurance contracts held.

Reinsurance contracts held measured under the PAA

For certain groups of reinsurance contracts held that are eligible for the PAA, the Company applies the same
accounting principles used to measure a group of insurance contracts issued under the PAA and also
develops certain accounting policies for the areas that are unique to the reinsurance contracts held.

On initial recognition, the Company measures the ARC at the amount of ceded premiums paid plus or minus
the amount derecognised at that date of any asset or liability previously recognised for cash flows related to
the group of reinsurance contracts held.

At the end of each subsequent reporting period, the carrying amount of the ARC is the carrying amount at
the start of the reporting period:

- plus the ceded premiums paid in the period;

- plus any adjustment to a financing component;

- minus the amount recognised as an allocation of reinsurance premiums for services received in that period;
- minus any investment component received of transferred to the AIC.

The company adjusts the carrying amount of the ARC to reflect the time value of money and the effect of
financial risk using the discount rates determined on initial recognition.
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CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. Material accounting policy information (continued)
Insurance contracts (continued)

Measurement of insurance contracts (continued)

Reinsurance contracts held measured under the PAA (continued)

If a loss-recovery component is established for a group of reinsurance contracts held measured under the
PAA, the Company adjusts the carrying amount of the ARC instead of adjusting the CSM. At the end of
each subsequent reporting period, the carrying amount of the loss-recovery component is remeasured in the
same way as that for the initial recognition, determined by multiplying the amount of loss component on the
underlying insurance contracts the Company expects to recover from the group of reinsurance contracts held
which will be updated based on the latest available information as at the period end.

The AIC is measured similarly to the AIC’s measurement under the GMM. Future cash flows are adjusted
for the time value of money and other financial risks.

Derecognition of insurance contracts

The Company derecognises an insurance contract when the obligation specified in the insurance contract
expires or is discharged or cancelled.

Presentation
Insurance contract asset and liability

Portfolios of insurance contracts issued and reinsurance contracts held in an asset position are presented
separately from those in a liability position. Portfolios of insurance contracts issued are presented separately
from portfolios of reinsurance contracts held. Any assets or liabilities for cash flows arising before the
recognition of the related group of reinsurance contracts held are included in the carrying amount of the
related portfolios of reinsurance contracts held.

Insurance revenue
As the Company provides insurance contract services under the group of insurance contracts, the amount of
insurance revenue recognised in the reporting period depicts the transfer of promised services at an amount

that reflects the portion of consideration that the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those
services.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. Material accounting policy information (continued)
Insurance contracts (continued)

Presentation (continued)

Insurance revenue (continued)
For contracts measured under the GMM, insurance revenue comprises the following:

(1) amounts relating to the changes in the LRC:

(i) claims and other directly attributable expenses incurred in the period measured at the amounts
expected at the beginning of the period, excluding:
- amounts allocated to the loss component;
- repayments of investment components;
- amounts of transaction-based taxes collected in a fiduciary capacity;
- insurance acquisition expenses; and
- amounts related to the risk adjustment for non-financial risk (see (ii);

(ii) changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk, excluding
- changes included in insurance finance income or loss;
- changes that relate to future coverage (which adjust the CSM); and
- amounts allocated to the loss component;

(iif) amounts of the CSM recognised for the services provided in the period; and

(iv) other amounts, e.g. experience adjustments arising from premiums received in the period other
than those that relate to future services.

(2) insurance acquisition cash flows recovery, which is determined by allocating the portion of premiums
relating to recovering of those cash flows over the coverage period in a systematic way on the basis of
the passage of time.

For contracts measured under the PAA, insurance revenue is an allocation of total expected premium
receipts (excluding any investment component, refund of premiums, cash shortfalls due to policyholder’s
credit risk and adjusted to reflect the time value of money and the effect of financial risk) over the coverage
period of a group of contracts on the basis of the passage of time.

Insurance service expenses

Insurance service expenses include the following:

(1) incurred claims and benefits, excluding investment components;

(2) other incurred directly attributable expenses;

(3) insurance acquisition cash flows amortisation;

(4) changes that relate to past service — changes in the FCF relating to the LIC; and

(5) changes that relate to future service — changes in the FCF that result in onerous contract losses or
reversals of those losses.

For contacts measured under the GMM, amortization of insurance acquisition cash flows is reflected in
insurance service expenses in the same amount as insurance acquisition cash flows recovery reflected within
insurance revenue, as described above.

For contracts measured under the PAA, insurance acquisition cash flows are amortised over the coverage
period on the same basis as the insurance revenue earning pattern for the contracts to which the cash flows
relate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. Material accounting policy information (continued)
Insurance contracts (continued)

Presentation (continued)

Insurance service expenses (continued)

Other expenses not meeting the above categories are included in other operating expenses in the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Net income/(expenses) from reinsurance contracts held

The Company presents financial performance of groups of reinsurance contracts held on a net basis in net
income/(expenses) from reinsurance contracts held, including the following amounts:

(1) allocation of reinsurance premiums;

(2)  incurred claims recovery, excluding investment components;

(3) other incurred directly attributable expenses;

(4) effect of changes in the risk of reinsurers’ non-performance;

(5) amounts relating to the recognition and reversal of the loss-recovery component; and

(6) changes that relate to past service — changes in the FCF relating to incurred claims recovery.

The allocation of reinsurance premiums is recognised similarly to insurance revenue. The amount of
allocation of reinsurance premiums recognised in the reporting period depicts the transfer of received
insurance contract services at an amount that reflects the portion of ceding premiums that the Company
expects to pay in exchange for those services.

For contracts measured under the GMM, allocation of reinsurance premium comprises the following

amounts relating to the changes in the remaining coverage:

(1) claims recovery in the period, measured at the amounts expected to be incurred at the beginning of the
period, excluding repayments of investment components;

(2) changes in the risk adjustments for non-financial risk, excluding:
() changes included in finance income/(expenses) from reinsurance contracts held;
(ii) changes that relate to future coverage (which adjust the CSM) and amounts allocated to the loss-

recovery component;

(3) amounts of the CSM recognised for the services received in the period; and

(4)  other amounts, e.g. experience adjustments arising from premiums paid in the period other than those
that relate to future services. '

For groups of reinsurance contracts held measured under the PAA, the Group recognises the allocation of

reinsurance premiums:

(1) on the basis of the passage of time; but

(2) if the expected pattern of release of risk during the coverage period differs significantly from the
passage of time, then on the basis of the expected timing of incurred insurance service expenses
recovery.

Ceding commissions that are not contingent on claims of the underlying contracts issued reduce ceding
premiums and are accounted for as part of allocation of reinsurance premiums. Reinsurance cash flows that
are contingent on claims of the underlying contracts, for examples profit or sliding commissions, are
accounted for part of the claims that are expected to be reimbursed under the reinsurance contract held.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
3. Material accounting policy information (continued)

Presentation (continued)

Insurance finance income or expenses

Insurance finance income or expenses comprise the change in the carrying amount of the group of insurance
contracts arising from:

(1) the effect of the time value of money and changes in the time value of money; and

(2) the effect of financial risk and changes in financial risk.

The Company has chosen to disaggregate the change in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk between
the insurance service result and insurance finance income or expenses.

The Company chooses to present insurance finance income or expenses for the period in profit or loss, and
applies the choice of accounting policy to all portfolios of insurance contracts.

Investment in a subsidiary

Investment in a subsidiary is included in the Company’s statement of financial position at cost less any
identified impairment loss. The results of the subsidiary are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received or receivable.

The Company is a holding company as it has one subsidiary. However, the Company regards this subsidiary
as immaterial and therefore, in accordance with section 383(3) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622), is not required to prepare consolidated financial statements.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Company recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

An item of leasehold land and building, office equipment, furniture and fixtures and motor vehicles is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the year in
which the asset is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
3. Material accounting policy information (continued)

Property and equipment (continued)

Leasehold land and building

Leasehold land and building thereon are stated at valuation less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ
materially from its carrying amount. Changes in the revalued amounts of leasehold land and buildings are
dealt with as movements in the property revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient to
cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of the deficit is charged to the statement of profit or
loss. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to the statement of profit or loss to the extent of the
deficit previously charged. On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the property revaluation
reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained profits as a movement in reserves.

Depreciation of the Company’s leasehold land and building is calculated to write off their valuation using

the straight line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

- Leasehold land is amortised over the unexpired term of the lease;

- Building situated on leasehold land is depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term of the lease and
its estimated useful live. In current year, the useful live of building has been extended to no more than
60 years after the date of completion.

Other items of property and equipment

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost or valuation of each item of property
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Furniture and fixtures 13%
Office equipment 25%
Motor vehicle 20%

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

Leases

The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

As lessee

The Company applies single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term

leases and leases of low-value assets. The Company recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and
right-of-use asset representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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3. Material accounting policy information (continued)
Leases (continued)
As lessee (continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of storage rental
and car park space (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). When the Company enters into a lease in respect of a low-value
asset, the Company decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

As lessor

When the Company acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when there is a lease modification)
each of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Company does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Company allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
standalone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms
and is ncluded in “net investment income and other income” in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added
to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as investment income in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to
the lessee are accounted for as finance leases.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If the
recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately,
unless the relevant asset is carried at revalued amount under another standard, in which case the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under that standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at
revalued amount under another standard, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase under that standard.
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3. Material accounting policy information (continued)
Investments and other financial assets

Classification

The Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:
- those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income (“OCI”),
or through profit or loss), and
- those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss. For investments
in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Company has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Company reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit
or loss.

Debt investments

Subsequent measurement of debt investments depends on the Company’s business model for managing the
asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which the
Company classifies its debt instruments:

- Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in interest income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising from derecognition or impairment is recognised directly in profit or loss.

- FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets,
where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCL.
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognised in profit or
loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss on the instrument’s amortised
cost previously recognised in OCl is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in interest income using the effective interest rate method.

- FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. The
gains or losses arisen from fair value changes on the debt investments measured at FVPL are recognised
in profit or loss.
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3. Material accounting policy information (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Measurement (continued)

Equity investments

The Company subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Company’s
management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends, representing a return on such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss
when the Company’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in “net investment income and other
income” in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as applicable.

Impairment

The Company recognises loss allowances for ECLs on the financial instruments that are neither measured
at FVTPL nor equity instruments designated at FVTOCI which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9.

ECLs are required to be measured through a loss allowance at an amount equal to:

(a) 12-month ECLs (“12m ECLs”), i.e. lifetime ECLs that result from those default events on the financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date (referred to as Stage 1); or

(b) Lifetime ECLs, i.e. lifetime ECLs that result from all possible default events over the life of the financial
instrument (referred to as Stage 2 and Stage 3).

Lifetime ECLs represents the ECLs that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12m ECLs represents the portion of lifetime ECLs that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are done
based on the Company’s historical credit loss experience, adj usted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions. The Company always recognises lifetime ECLs for interest and other
receivables. The ECLs on these assets are assessed collectively for debtors with shared risk characteristics.
For all other instruments, the Company measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECLs, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Company recognises lifetime ECLs.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECLs should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition. ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate
of the present value of credit losses. These are measured as the present value of the difference between the
cash flows due to the Company under the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive
arising from the weighting of multiple future economic scenarios, discounted at the asset’s effective interest
rate. The Company measures ECLs on an individual basis, or on a collective basis for portfolios of financial
instruments that share similar economic risk characteristics. The measurement of loss allowance is based on
the present value of the asset’s expected cash flows using the asset’s original effective interest rate,
regardless of whether it is measured on an individual basis or a collective basis.
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3. Material accounting policy information (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Company compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instruments as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Company considers both quantitative and quantitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort. In particular, the following information taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

- significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial instrument,
e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor, or the length
of time or the extent to which the fair value of a financial asset has been less than its amortised cost;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

- significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor;

- an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Company presumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due, unless the Company has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the financial instrument has
a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Company considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit rating
of ‘investment grade’ as per globally understood definition.

The Company regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a

significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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3. Material accounting policy information (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Definition of default

The Company considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management

purposes as historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the following criteria are

generally not recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty; or

- information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Company considers that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Company has reasonable and supportable information to

demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is “credit-impaired” when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the

estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Evidence of credit impairment includes

observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

(b) a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;

(¢) the lender of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;

(d) the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties; or

(e) the purchase of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off policy

The Company writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Company’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECLs

The measurement of ECLs is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude
of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and
loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward looking information as described above.
As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount
at the reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn down as at
the reporting date, together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by default
date determined based on historical trend, the Company’s understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking information.
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Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECLs (continued)

For financial assets, the ECLs is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due
to the Company in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate.

Where lifetime ECLs is measured on a collective basis to cater for cases where evidence of significant
increases in credit risk at the individual instrument level may not yet be available, the financial instruments
are grouped on the following basis:

- Nature of financial instruments;

- Past-due status;

- Nature, size and industry of debtors;

- Nature of collaterals for receivables; and

- External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each separate group
continues to share similar credit risk characteristics.

If the Company has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for
lifetime ECLs are no longer met, the Company measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12m
ECLs at the current reporting date.

The Company recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. For debt investments at FVTOC],
impairment gain or loss are included in the net impairment loss on financial instruments and correspondingly

reduce the accumulated changes in fair value included in investment revaluation reserve of equity.

Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the statement of financial position

Loss allowances for ECLs are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

(a) for financial assets measured at amortised cost; loss allowances for ECLs are presented in the statement
of financial position as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets;

(b) for debt instruments measured at FVTOCI, no loss allowance is recognised in the statement of financial
position as the carrying amount is at fair value. However, the loss allowance is included as part of the
revaluation amount in the investment revaluation reserve.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a Company of similar financial
assets) is derecognised when:

- the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

- the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

Where the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from a financial asset or has entered into
a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Company’s continuing
involvement in the asset. In that case, the Company also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Company has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower
of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company
could be required to repay.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKFRS 9 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, other financial liabilities, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate. The Company determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial
recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of financial liabilities measured
at amortised costs, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Other financial liabilities, including other creditors and accruals, are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Company derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is
treated as derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. The legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and
in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the counterparty.
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Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks and short-term bank
deposits and certificate of deposit with an original maturity period of within three months when acquired.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities for the year are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before
tax as reported in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items
of income and expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences respectively,
being the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and
their corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the accounting profit nor the
taxable profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax assets and
liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Company expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right exists to

set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the
same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.
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Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are reco gnised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the Company using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items,
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefits

Contributions to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme as required under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance, are recognised as an expense when the employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period. Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time
of leave.

Hong Kong Employment Ordinance long service payments

Certain of the Company’s employees have completed the required number of years of service to the
Company in order to be eligible for long service payments under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance in
the event of the termination of their employment. The Company is liable to make such payments in the event
that such a termination of employment meets the circumstances specified in the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance.

Related parties
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Company if that person:
(i)  has control or joint control over the Company;

(i)  has significant influence over the Company; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or of the Company’s parent.
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(b)  An entity is related to the Company if any of the following conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
a member of a group of which the other entity is a member);

(iii)  both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  theentity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Company
or an entity related to the Company;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); or

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

4. Significant accounting judgements and estimates

In the process of applying the Company's accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors
of the Company is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and assumptions are
based on past experience, expectations of the future and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, the directors of the Company have made the
following judgements, apart from those involving estimations and assumptions, which have significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Classification of financial assets

The judgments in determining the classification of financial assets include the analysis of business models
and the characteristics of contractual cash flows.

An entity’s business model refers to how an entity manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. That is, the entity’s business model determines whether cash flows are arising from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling financial assets or both. The business model of managing financial assets is
not determined by a single factor or activity. Instead, the entity should consider all relevant evidence
available when making the assessment. Relevant evidence mainly includes, but not limited to, how the cash
flow of the group of assets is collected, how the performance of the group of assets is reported to key
management personnel, and how the risk of group of assets is being assessed and managed.

The contractual cash flows characteristics of financial assets refer to the cash flow attributes of the financial
assets reflecting the economic characteristics of the relevant financial assets (i.e. whether the contractual
cash flows generated by the relevant financial assets on a specified date solely represents the payments of
principal and interest). The principal amount refers to the fair value of the financial asset at initial reco gnition.
The principal amount may change throughout the lifetime of the financial assets due to prepayment or other
reasons. The interest includes the time value of money, the credit risk associated with the outstanding
principal amount for a specific period, other basic lending credit risks, and the consideration of costs and
profits.
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Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial years, are described below:

Valuation of insurance contract liabilities

Estimates of future cash flows

The Company’s objective in estimating future cash flows is to determine the expected value or
probability-weighted mean of the full range of possible outcomes. The Company incorporates, in an
unbiased way, all reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort
at the reporting date. This information includes both internal and external historical data about claims
and other experience, updated to reflect current expectations of future events.

The estimates of future cash flows reflect the Company’s view of current conditions at the reporting
date and the estimates of any relevant market variables are consistent with observable market prices.

When estimating future cash flows, the Company takes into account current expectations of future
events that might affect those cash flows. However, expectations of future changes in legislation that
would change or discharge a present obligation or create new obligations under existing contracts are
not taken into account until the change in legislation is substantively enacted.

Cash flows are within the boundary of a contract if they arise from substantive right and obligations
that exist during the reporting period. They relate directly to the fulfilment of the contract, including
those for which the Company has discretion over the amount or timing. These include payments to (or
on behalf of) policyholders, insurance acquisition cash flows and other costs that are incurred in
fulfilling contracts.

Tnsurance acquisition cash flows arise from the activities of selling, underwriting and starting a group
of contracts that are directly attributable to the portfolio of contracts to which the group belongs. Other
costs that are incurred in fulfilling the contracts include claims handling, maintenance and
administration costs, and recurring commissions payable on instalment premiums receivable within the
contract boundary.

Insurance acquisition cash flows and other costs that are incurred in fulfilling contracts comprise both
direct costs and an allocation of fixed and variable overheads.

Expense assumptions

The Company develops its expense assumption on its expense analysis and future expectation for policy
acquisition costs, maintenance expenses and claim expenses.

The Company’s expense assumption is determined based on the Company’s historical expense
experience and economic environment. The Company’s expense assumption is affected by certain
factors, such as inflation, market competition and other factors. The Company uses information
currently available at the balance sheet date to determine expense assumption and a risk adjustment is
considered.
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Valuation of insurance contract liabilities (continued)

Expected loss ratios and future claim development pattern

The major assumptions applied in measuring LIC include the expected loss ratios and future claim
development pattern. The expected loss ratios and future claim development pattern of each
measurement unit are based on the Company’s historical claims development experience and loss ratios,
with consideration of adjustments to company policies such as underwriting policies, level of premium
rates, claims handling processes, and the changing trends in external environment such as
macroeconomic, regulations, and legislation.

Discount rate

All cash flows are discounted using risk-free yield curves adjusted to reflect the characteristics of the
cash flows and the liquidity of the insurance contracts.

The table below set out the spot rates used to discount the cash flows of insurance contracts as at 31
December 2024.

Discount rates 3.60% - 3.88%
Risk adjustments for non-financial risk

Risk adjustments for non-financial risk are determined to reflect the compensation that the Company
would require for bearing non-financial risk.

Risk adjustments are determined using a confidence level technique. The Company estimates the
probability distribution of the expected present value of the future cash flows from insurance contracts
at each reporting date and calculates the risk adjustment for non-financial risk as the excess of the value
at risk at the 75% (the target confidence level) over the expected present value of the future cash flows.

Fair value of leasehold land and building

Fair value of leasehold land and buildings are based on valuation performed by independent professional
valuer. The determination of the fair value involves assumption of market conditions. The directors of the
Company have exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of the
current market conditions. Favourable or unfavourable changes to these assumptions would result in changes
in the fair value of the Company’s leasehold land and buildings and corresponding adjustments to the change
in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income. The movements of fair value of the leasehold land
and buildings are set out in note 17.
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Significant accounting judgements and estimates (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Useful lives of building

As described in note 3 above, the Company reviews the estimated useful lives of property and
equipment at the end of each annual reporting period. ~During the year, the directors determined that
the useful life of building should be lengthened, due to the existing good condition of the building.

The financial effect of this reassessment, assuming the assets are held until the end of their estimated
useful lives, is to decrease the depreciation charge in the current financial year by HK$513,889 and to
decrease the depreciation charge for financial years 2025 to 2031 by HK$513,889 per annum and
increase the depreciation charge for financial years 2032 to 2041 by HK$411,111 per annum.

Measurement of ECL allowance for financial assets measured at amortised cost and at fair value through
other comprehensive income

When measuring ECL allowance the Company uses reasonable and supportable forward looking
information, which is based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how
these drivers will affect each other.

Loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows
from collateral and integral credit enhancements.

Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. Probability of default is an estimate of the
likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions

and expectations of future conditions.

Estimated impairment loss of non-financial assets (other than reinsurance contract assets)

The Company assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets other than
reinsurance contract assets at the end of each reporting period. Such assets are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Impairment exists when the carrying
value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs to sell and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs to sell is based on
available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the assets or cash-generating unit and choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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S. Categories of financial instruments

2024 2023
HKS HK$
Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through:
- profit or loss 1,692,840 1,672,600
- other comprehensive income 24,628,947 19,887,364
26,321,787 21,559,964
Financial assets at amortised costs:
Interest and other receivables 1,549,410 2,523,774
Bank balances and cash 95,895,407 88,018,050
97,444,817 90,541,824
123,766,604 112,101,788
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:
Financial liabilities included in other payables
and accruals 3,324,946 2,427,643
Cash collateral received from customers 2,162,929 333,823
5,487,875 2,761,466

6. Management of insurance and financial risks

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of risks, including insurance risk, market risk (including
equity price risk, currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The management
policies for these types of risks are as follows:

Insurance risk

The risk under an insurance contract arises from the possibility of occurrence of an insured event and the
uncertainty of the amount and timing of any resulting claim. By the very nature of the insurance contract,
this risk is random and therefore unpredictable. For a portfolio of insurance contracts where the theory of
probability is applied to pricing and provisioning, the principal risk that the Company faces under its
insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefit payments exceed the carrying amount of the
insurance liabilities. This occurs when the frequency or severity of claims and benefits exceeds the
estimates. Insurance events are random and the actual number of claims and the amount of benefits paid
will vary each year from estimates established using statistical techniques.
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Insurance risk (continued)

Experience shows that the larger the portfolio of similar insurance contracts, the smaller the relative
variability about the expected outcome will be. In addition, a more diversified portfolio is less likely to be
affected across the board by a change in any subset of the portfolio. The Company has developed its
insurance underwriting strategy to diversify the type of insurance risks accepted and within each of these
categories to achieve a sufficiently large population of risks to reduce the variability of the expected outcome.
The Company manages insurance risk through its underwriting strategy, adequate reinsurance arrangements
and claims handling.

The Company cedes reinsurance in the normal course of business for the purpose of limiting exposure to
underwriting losses under various reinsurance treaties and facultative reinsurance agreements. These
reinsurance agreements spread the risk and minimise the effect of losses. The amount of each risk retained
depends on the Company’s evaluation of the specific risk, subject to certain circumstances, to maximum
limits based on characteristics of coverage. Under the terms of the reinsurance agreements, the reinsurers
agree to reimburse the ceded amounts in the event the claim is paid. The reinsurance protections are chosen
after careful consideration of reinsurers’ reputation and credit worthiness.

Concentration of insurance risks

The Company runs its insurance business in Hong Kong. Geographically, there is an inherent concentration of
insurance risks in the Company’s insurance portfolio.

The table below sets out the concentration of insurance policies being sold by type of contract, expressed in
terms of written premium.

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Gross Net Gross Net
HxX$ HKS$ HK$ HKS$
Accident and health 18,896,067 18,622,203 17,886,478 17,666,520
Goods in transit 49,203 17,221 54,119 18,942
Property damage 943,143 729,468 925,260 609,136
General liability 18,420,746 14,678,336 34,719,562 25,766,386
Motor 5,238,714 4,249,043 2,783,100 2,274,375
Pecuniary loss 3,513,647 3,513,647 1,935,997 1,935,997
47,061,520 41,809,918 58,304,516 48,271,356

Sensitivities

It is not possible to quantify the sensitivity of certain variables like legislative change and uncertainty in the
estimation process with any degree of confidence. Furthermore, because of delays that arise between the
occurrence of a claim and its subsequent notification and eventual settlement, the insurance contract balances
are not quantifiable with certainty.
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6.

Management of insurance and financial risks (continued)

Insurance risk (continued)

Sensitivities (continued)

The LIC’s sensitivity to unpaid claims and expenses is outlined below. The analysis is performed for possible
movements in unpaid claims and expenses with all other variables held constant, showing the pre-tax impact on
profit and equity before and after risk mitigation by reinsurance contracts held.

Pre-tax impact on profit Pre-tax impact on Pre-tax impact on profit Pre-tax impact on
for the year ended equity as at for the year ended equity as at
Change in 31 December 2024 31 December 2024 31 December 2023 31 December 2023
assumptions Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net
HK$ HKS$ HKS$ HK$ HK$ HKS$ HKS$ HK$
Unpaid claims +10%  (6,442,000)  (4,481,000)  (6,442,000)  (4,481,000) (7,443,000) (5420,000) (7,443,000)  (5,420,000)
and expenses -10% 6,442,000 4,481,000 6,442,000 4,481,000 7,443,000 5,420,000 7,443,000 5,420,000

Reproduced below is an analysis that shows the development of the undiscounted claims over a period of time
on a gross basis:

Gross claims development

Accident year 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Total
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000 HKS$000 HKS$000

Estimated cumulative claims

- End of current year 18,808 20,472 23,703 14,029 8,194 30,056 22,730

- One year later 34,241 29,717 27,538 16,060 17,314 22,710

- Two years later 35,751 28,228 30,894 20,599 12,561

- Three years later 38,519 30,250 34,501 18,889

- Four years later 35,078 30,292 31,346

- Five years later 35,343 28,436

- Six years later 33,577

Estimated cumulative claims 33,577 28,436 31,346 18,889 12,561 22,710 22,730 170,249

Less: cumulative gross claims paid (32,867) (24,125) (21,743) (13,545)  (6,751)  (6,512)  (3,750) (109,293)

Sub-total 60,956
Liabilities in respect of years before
2018 662

Unallocated loss adjustment
expenses, discounting, risk
adjustment for non-financial risk 7,530

Gross LIC 69,148
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Insurance risk (continued)

Net claims development

Accident year 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Total
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HKS 000

Estimated cumulative claims

- End of current year 17,249 18,818 20,092 10,890 6,681 25,289 20,080

- One year later 31,844 27,343 21,546 12,646 14,306 19,614

- Two years later 33,081 26,183 24,285 16,335 9,809

- Three years later 34,541 27,903 26,166 14,718

- Four years later 31,141 28,288 24,233

- Five years later 31,373 25,992

- Six years later 29,638

Estimated cumulative claims 29,638 25,992 24,233 14,718 9,809 19,614 20,080 144,084
Less: cumulative net claims paid (29,494) (23,786) (20,473) (12,401)  (6,042) (6,333)  (3,750) (102,279)
Sub-total 41,805
Liabilities in respect of years before

2018 662

Unallocated loss adjustment
expenses, discounting, risk
adjustment for non-financial risk 5,236

Net LIC 47,703

The ultimate liabilities will vary as a result of subsequent developments. Differences resulting from the re-
assessment of the ultimate liabilities are recognised in subsequent years financial statements.

Financial risks

The Company is exposed to certain financial risks, including credit risks, liquidity risk and market risk
(including interest rate risk, currency risk and equity price risk). The following section summarises the
Company’s key risk exposures and the primary policies and processes used by the Company to manage its
exposures to these risks.

(1) Credit risk

Credit risks refer to the risk of losses incurred by the inabilities of debtors or counterparties to fulfil their
contractual obligations or by the adverse changes in their credit conditions. The Company is exposed to
credit risks primarily associated with its deposit arrangements with commercial banks, investments in
debt instruments, and reinsurance arrangements with reinsurers.

The Company's maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the counterparties’ failure to meet their
obligations as at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is
the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the statement of financial position.

The Company evaluated the credit quality of the reinsurance companies before signing the reinsurance
contracts and choose the reinsurance companies with higher credit quality to reduce credit risk.
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Financial risks (continued)

(1) Credit risk (continued)

Credit quality of bank balances

The following table details the credit quality of bank balances which are assessed by reference to

external credit ratings by S&P. All banks are registered under Banking Ordinance in Hong Kong.

Credit ratings 2024 2023
by S&P HKS$ HK$
Bank A AA- 10,191,279 4,165,554
Bank B A- 27,071 48,921
Bank C A- 123,178 122,665
Bank D A+ 2,127,143 869,705
Bank E A- 186,664 185,691
Bank F AA- 4,871,473 3,721,704
Bank G A 78,358,099 78,893,310
Cash on hand N/A 10,500 10,500
Total bank balances and cash

Credit quality of debt investments

The following table details the credit quality of the unlisted debt investments which are assessed by

reference to external credit ratings by Moody’s / S&P as appropriate:

95,895,407

88,018,050

2024 2023
HKS$ HK$
Credit ratings by Moody’s:
A3 14,682,453 8,994,584
Baal 1,943,148 1,948,723
Baa2 2,310,790 6,667,156
Credit ratings by S&P:
A- 2,314,144 2,276,901
Unrated 3,378,412 -
24,628,947 19,887,364

- 40 -



CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. Management of insurance and financial risks (continued)

(1) Credit risk (continued)

Expected credit loss on financial assets

The Company considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there

has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To

assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Company compares the risk of a default

occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition.

It considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially the

following indicators are incorporated:

— actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the customer’s ability to meet its obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the debtor/customer;

— significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of the customer, including changes
in the payment status of customer in the Company and changes in the operating results of the
customer.

The Company measures loss allowances for interest and other receivables at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs and debt investments and bank balances at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs. Given that there
is no history of significant defaults from debtors, the Company assesses that the ECLs for financial
assets are minimal.

The following table presents the credit risk exposure of debt investment and bank balances and cash:

At 31 December 2024

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
HKS$ HKS HK$ HKS$
Bank balances and cash 95,895,407 - - 95,895,407
Debt investments 24,628,947 - - 24,628,947
120,524,354 - - 120,524,354

At 31 December 2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
HK$ HKS$ HKS$ HKS$
Bank balances and cash 88,018,050 - - 88,018,050
Debt investments 19,887,364 - - 19,887,364
107,905,414 - - 107,905,414
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Financial risks (continued)

(2) Liquidity risk

The Company is exposed to daily calls on its available cash resources mainly from claims arising from
insurance contracts. Liquidity risk is the risk that cash may not be available to pay obligations when due
at a reasonable cost.

The Company’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility. In the
opinion of the directors, the Company is able to generate adequate funds to finance its operations and to
cover the claims at unexpected levels of demand.

The following table details the Company’s remaining contractual maturities of its financial liabilities at
the end of the reporting period, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows of the financial
liabilities and the earliest date on which the Company can be required to pay.

Repayable on
Carrying  demand or within
amount one year Total
HKS$ HK$ HK$
As at 31 December 2024
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 3,324,946 3,324,946 3,324,946
Cash collateral received from customers 2,162,929 2,162,929 2,162,929
5,487,875 5,487,875 5,487,875
As at 31 December 2023
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 2,427,643 2,427,643 2,427,643
Cash collateral received from customers 333,823 333,823 333,823

2,761,446 2,761,446 2,761,446

The following table presented the estimated amount and timing of the remaining contractual
undiscounted cash flows arising from insurance contracts and reinsurance contracts measured under the
GMM as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 (the LRC for insurance contracts issued and the ARC for
reinsurance contracts held measured under the PAA are not included in the table).

Within 1to2 2 to3 3to4 410 5

1 year years years years years Total
Cash inflows/(outflows) HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$ HK$
As at 31 December 2024
Insurance contract liabilities (642,259) (5,629,468) (3,306,363) (1,810,423) - (11,388,513)
Reinsurance contract liabilities (2,084,479) 515,137 280,629 187,594 - (1,101,119)
Net gap (2,726,738) (5,114,331) (3,025,734) (1,622,829) - (12,489,632)
As at 31 December 2023
Insurance contract liabilities 3,367,066 (616,470) (3,352,115) (2,065,739) (981,095) (3,648,353)
Reinsurance contract liabilities (1,741,063) (231,199) 515,137 280,629 187,594 (988,902)
Net gap 1,626,003 (847,669) (2,836,978) (1,785,110) (793,501) (4,637,255)

-49 -



CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Financial risks (continued)

(2) Market risk

@

(ii)

Currency risk

The Company operates mainly in Hong Kong with most of the transactions denominated and settled
in Hong Kong dollar. Certain financial assets of the Company are denominated in currencies other
than its functional currency (“foreign currencies”). The Company currently does not hedge its
currency risk. However, the management monitors foreign currency exposure on an ongoing basis
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The following table details the Company’s major exposure at the end of the reporting period to
currency risk arising from recognised assets denominated in foreign currencies, expressed in Hong
Kong dollar equivalent:

2024 2023
HKS$ HKS

Assets
Renminbi (“RMB”) 42,997 44,484
United States Dollar (“USD”) 105,609,086 100,714,012

If RMB had strengthened/weakened by 5% (2023: 5%) against Hong Kong dollar with all other
variables held constant, there would be no material effect on the Company’s profit for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 and its equity as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

If USD had strengthened/weakened by 5% (2023: 5%) against Hong Kong dollar with all other
variables held constant, the Company’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2024would have
increased/decreased by approximately HK4,049,000 (2023: HK$4,041,000) and the Company’s
equity as at 31 December 2024 would have increased/decreased by approximately HK$5,280,000
(2023: HK$5,036,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on the exposure to currency risk arising
from RMB and USD at the end of the reporting period. The 5% increase or decrease represents
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in exchange rates. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for year ended 31 December 2023.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

The Company has exposure to interest rate risk through the impact of the interest rate changes on
its investment in debt securities and bank deposits. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the
value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Cash flow
interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. The Company’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to
its investment in fixed-rate debt securities. The Company’s cash flow interest rate risk relates
primarily to its bank deposits which are repriced at intervals of within one week to twelve months.
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Financial risks (continued)

(3) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk (continued)
The Company currently does not have any interest rate hedging policy. The directors monitor the
Company's exposure on ongoing basis and will consider shortening the maturity period of time
deposits or hedging interest rate risk should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The analysis below is performed for reasonably possible movements in interest rates with all other
variables held constant, showing the impact on profit after tax and equity.

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Increase / Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
decrease in (decrease) in  (decrease) in (decrease) in  (decrease) in
interest rates  profit after tax equity profit after tax equity
HKS$ HK$ HK$ HKS$
Financial instruments + 50 bp 65,000 (258,000) 32,000 (193,000)
- 50 bp (65,000) 258,000 (32,000) 193,000
Insurance contracts + 50 bp 673,000 673,000 351,000 351,000
- 50 bp (673,000) (673,000) (351,000) (351,000)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to the Company’s exposure to
interest rate risk for financial instruments in existence at that date. The 50 basis point increase or
decrease represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest rates. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for the year ended 31 December 2023.

(iii) Equity price risk

The Company is exposed to equity price risk through its equity investments. The Company
manages equity price risk by maintaining an appropriately diversified investment portfolio
designed to reduce the risk of concentration in any one specific industry or issuer and by closely
monitoring equity investments for price changes.

As at 31 December 2024, if the prices of the respective equity instruments had been 5% (2023: 5%)
higher/lower, the Company’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 would have
increased/decreased by approximately HK$85,000 (2023: HK$84,000) as a result of the changes in
fair value of equity investments.

The sensitivity analysis above had been determined assuming that the change in equity prices had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to the Company’s exposure to
equity price risk for financial instruments in existence at that date. The 5% increase or decrease
represents management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in equity price.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the sensitivity analysis was unrepresentative of the
inherent equity price risk as it only reflects the impact of equity price changes to equity securities held
as at the end of the reporting period.
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7. Fair value and fair value hierarchy of financial instruments

(a) Fair value of the financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Company’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined
(in particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Fair value as at Fair value Valuation technique(s)
Financial assets 2024 2023  hierarchy and key input(s)
HK$ HK$

Listed equity securities 1,692,840 1,672,600 TLevel 1  Quoted bid prices in an active market
Debt investments 24,628,947 19,887,364 Level 1  Quoted bid prices in an active market

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Company does not have any assets transferred
between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value hierarchy and no transfer into and out of Level 3 fair value
hierarchy.

The following table provides an analysis of the Company’s financial instruments that are measured
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which
fair value is observable:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HKS HKS$ HK$ HKS$
As at 31 December 2024
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,692,840 - - 1,692,840
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income 24,628,947 - - 24,628,947
26,321,787 - - 26,321,787
As at 31 December 2023
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,672,600 - - 1,672,600
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income 19,887,364 - - 19,887,364
21,559,964 - - 21,559,964

(b) Fair value measurement and valuation process

The management of the Company is responsible to determine appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses market-observable data to the

extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Company relies on fair value
information provided by brokers or agents or fund managers.
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8. Insurance revenue

Amounts relating to the changes in the LRC
Expected incurred claims and other directly attributable
expenses
Change in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk for the risk
expired
CSM recognised for the service provided
Insurance acquisition cash flows recovery

Insurance revenue from contracts measured under the GMM
Insurance revenue from contracts measured under the PAA

9. Net investment income and other income, other gains and losses, net

Interest income from:
Current bank deposits and fixed term deposits
Debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income

Income from investments at fair value through profit or loss:
Dividend income
Unrealised gain on fair value changes
Realised gain upon disposal

Other income, other gains or losses, net:
Rental income

Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Exchange (losses)/gain

Sundry income
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2024 2023
HK$ HK$
617,264 91,231
112,959 16,695
128,456 20,154
167,442 24,748
1,026,121 152,828
45,943,236 47,868,272
46,969,357 48,021,100
2024 2023
HK$ HK$
4,020,148 3,556,680
946,054 783,218
4,966,202 4,339,898
155,536 112,239
20,240 8,360

- 17,500

175,776 138,099
166,320 166,320

; 220,000
(561,797) 21,060
89,035 179,008
(306,442) 586,388
4,835,536 5,064,385
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10. Other operating expenses
The following expenses for the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 were analysed by nature. Expenses

incurred that were fulfillment cash flows are not presented in other operating expenses, but either presented
as insurance service expenses or recognised as insurance acquisition cash flows according to HKFRS 17.

2024 2023
HK$ HK$
Staff costs including directors’ remuneration
- salaries, allowances and other benefits 7,427,491 7,493,831
- retirement benefits scheme contributions 146,692 157,326
7,574,183 7,651,157
Commission and referral expenses 18,530,204 19,550,719
Auditor’s remuneration 742,000 600,000
Depreciation 777,110 914,619
Impairment of investment in a subsidiary 150,000 -
License and registration fees 317,548 319,465
Other expenses 2,454,246 1,930,745
Subtotal 30,545,291 30,966,705
Less: insurance acquisition cash flows (18,530,204) (19,550,719)
Less: Other incurred expenses directly attributable
to insurance contracts (5,396,235) (8,035,609)
Other operating expenses 6,618,852 3,380,377

11. Directors’ remuneration

Remuneration of the Company’s directors disclosed pursuant to section 383 of the Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622) and the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation (Cap.
622G) is as follows:
2024 2023
HK$ HKS$

Directors’ emoluments for services as directors of the Company:
- Directors’ fees 360,000 360,000
Other emoluments in connection with the management of the

affairs of the Company - -

360,000 360,000

12. Income tax charge

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in the financial statements for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, as the Company has tax losses brought forward from previous year which
exceed the assessable profit for both years.

Income tax for the year can be reconciled to the profit before tax per the statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income:
-47 -



CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. Income tax charge (continued)

2024 2023
HK$ HKS$
Profit before tax 11,524,786 2,787,282
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 16.5% 1,901,590 459,902
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 98,887 106,179
Tax effect of non-taxable income (147,370) -
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised (1,267,244) (224,618)
Income tax charge for the year 585,863 341,463
Income tax credit recognised in other comprehensive income for the year represents:
2024 2023
HKS$ HK$
Deferred tax (note 20):
- Arising on revaluation of leasehold land and building 585,863 341,463
Total income tax recognised in other comprehensive income 585,863 341,463
13. Bank balances and cash
2024 2023
HK$ HK$
Fixed-term deposits with banks in Hong Kong with original
maturity of three months or less 1,956,717 781,200
Certificate of deposit with original maturity of three months or less 78,358,099 78,893,310
Current and savings accounts held at banks and financial
institutions in Hong Kong 15,570,091 8,333,040
Cash in hand 10,500 10,500
Cash and cash equivalents 95,895,407 88,018,050

14.

The fixed-term bank deposits carry fixed interest rates of 4.19% per annum (2023: 4.96% per annum). The

certificate of deposit carries fixed interest rate of 4.55% per annum (2023: 5.60%).
Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss

2024
HK$

Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, at fair value 1,692,840

2023
HK$

1,672,600

-48 -



CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANY, LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income

16.

2024 2023
HKS$ HK$
Unlisted debt securities, at fair value 24,628,947 19,887,364

As at 31 December 2024, the debt investments carried fixed interest ranging from 3.08% to 6.16% (2023:
from 3.08% to 5.00%) per annum.

Insurance contracts

(1) Movement of insurance contract assets and liabilities of contracts issued measured under the PAA

For the year ended 31 December 2024

LRC LIC
Risk
Excluding Present value adjustment
loss Loss of future for non-
component component cash flows financial risk Total
HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$
As at 1 January 2024
Insurance contract liabilities (14,449,912) (220,039) (70,103,328) (10,235,087) (95,008,366)
Insurance revenue (note 8) 45,943,236 - - - 45,943,236
Insurance service expenses
- incurred claims and other
directly attributable expenses - - (14,122,977) (1,169,160) (15,292,137)
- insurance acquisition cash
flows amortisation (17,122,911) - - - (17,122,911)
- losses on onerous contracts
and reversals of those losses - 199,439 - - 199,439
- adjustments to liabilities for
incurred claims - - 4,790,288 3,383,533 8,173,821
Insurance service result 28,820,325 199,439 (9,332,689) 2,214,373 21,901,448
Insurance finance income or
expenses from insurance
contracts recognised in profit
or loss 945,000 - 435,781 30,195 1,410,976
Total changes in the statement
of comprehensive income 29,765,325 199,439 (8,896,908) 2,244,568 23,312,424
Premiums received (46,977,533) - - - (46,977,533)
Insurance acquisition cash flows 18,487,232 - - - 18,487,232
Claims and other insurance
service expenses paid - - 20,023,113 - 20,023,113
Total cash flows (28,490,301) - 20,023,113 - (8,467,188)
Net insurance contract liabilities
as at 31 December 2024,
represented by insurance
contract liabilities (13,174,888) (20,600) (58,977,123) (7,990,519) (80,163,130)
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(1) Movement of insurance contract assets and liabilities of contracts issued measured under the PAA

(continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023
LRC LIC
Risk
Excluding Present value adjustment
loss Loss of future for non-
component component cash flows  financial risk Total
HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HKS$
As at 1 January 2023:

Insurance contract liabilities (14,521,066) (143,269) (73,884,771) (9,235,597) (97,784,703)
Insurance revenue (note 8) 47,868,272 - - - 47,868,272
Insurance service expenses
- incurred claims and other

directly attributable expenses - - (28,615,498) (2,893,913) (31,509,411)
- insurance acquisition cash

flows amortisation (16,109,431) - - - (16,109,431)
- losses on onerous contracts

and reversals of those losses - (76,770) - - (76,770)
- adjustments to liabilities for

incurred claims - - 7,126,228 1,924,929 9,051,157
Insurance service result 31,758,841 (76,770) (21,489,270) (968,984) 9,223,817
Insurance finance income or

expenses from insurance

contracts recognised in profit

or loss - - (731,158) (30,506) (761,664)
Total changes in the statement

of comprehensive income 31,758,841 (76,770) (22,220,428) (999,490) 8,462,153
Premiums received (47,643,422) - - - (47,643,422)
Insurance acquisition cash flows 15,955,735 - - - 15,955,735
Claims and other insurance

service expenses paid - - 26,001,871 - 26,001,871
Total cash flows (31,687,687) - 26,001,871 - (5,685,816)
Net insurance contract liabilities

as at 31 December 2023,

represented by insurance

contract liabilities (14,449,912) (220,039) (70,103,328)  (10,235,087)  (95,008,366)
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(2) Movement of insurance contract assets and liabilities of contracts issued measured under the GMM

For the year ended 31 December 2024

LRC (Excluding
loss component) LIC Total
HK$ HKS$ HK$
As at 1 January 2024
Insurance contract liabilities (4,916,435) - (4,916,435)
Insurance revenue (note 8) 1,026,121 - 1,026,121
Insurance service expenses
- incurred claims and other directly attributable expenses - (3,163,131) (3,163,131)
- insurance acquisition cash flows amortisation (167,442) - (167,442)
Insurance service result 858,679 (3,163,131) (2,304,452)
Insurance finance income or expenses from insurance
contracts recognised in profit or loss (1,168) 191,128 189,960
Total changes in the statement of comprehensive income 857,511 (2,972,003) (2,114,492)
Premiums received (4,938,800) - (4,938,800)
Insurance acquisition cash flows 839,596 - 839,596
Claims and other insurance service expenses paid - 792,360 792,360
Total cash flows (4,099,204) 792,360 (3,306,844)
Net insurance contract liabilities as at 31 December 2024,
represented by insurance contract liabilities (2,179,643) (10,337,771)

(8,158,128)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

LRC (Excluding

loss component) LIC Total
HK$ HKS$ HK$
As at 1 January 2023
Insurance contract liabilities - - -
Insurance revenue (note §) 152,828 - 152,828
Insurance service expenses
- insurance acquisition cash flows amortisation (24,748) - (24,748)
Insurance service result 128,080 - 128,080
Insurance finance income or expenses from insurance
contracts recognised in profit or loss - - -
Total changes in the statement of comprehensive income 128,080 - 128,080
Premiums received (6,077,729) - (6,077,729)
Insurance acquisition cash flows 1,033,214 - 1,033,214
Total cash flows (5,044,515) - (5,044,515)
Net insurance contract liabilities as at 31 December 2023,
represented by insurance contract liabilities - (4,916,435)
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16. Insurance contracts (continued)

(2) Movement of reinsurance contract assets and liabilities of contracts held measured under the PAA

For the year ended 31 December 2024

ARC AIC
Risk
Excluding Present value adjustment
loss Loss of future for non-
component component cash flows  financial risk Total
HK$ HK$ HKS$ HKS$ HK$
As at 1 January 2024:
Reinsurance contract assets (1,736,464) 447265 21,185,441 4,062,737 23,958,979
Allocation of reinsurance
premiums (4,754,366) - - - (4,754,366)
Amounts recovered from
reinsurers
- incurred claims recovery and
other incurred reinsurance
service expenses - - 556,627 245,401 802,028
- recognition and reversal of loss
recovery component - (447,265) - - (447,265)
- changes in expected recoveries
on past claims - - (1,172,022) (1,696,924) (2,868.,946)
Net expenses from reinsurance
contracts held (4,754,366) (447,265) (615,395) (1,451,523) (7,268,549)
Insurance finance income or
expenses from reinsurance
contracts recognised in profit
or loss (155,000) - (290,864) 12,720 (433,144)
Total changes in the statement
of comprehensive income (4,909,366) (447,265) (906,259) (1,438,803) (7,701,693)
Premiums paid net of ceding
commissions 4,321,883 - - - 4,321,883
Recoveries from reinsurance - - (1,457,688) - (1,457,688)
Total cash flows 4,321,883 - (1,457,688) - 2,864,195
Net reinsurance contract assets
as at 31 December 2024,
represented by reinsurance

contract assets (2,323,947) - 18,821,494 2,623,934 19,121,481
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16. Insurance contracts (continued)

(3) Movement of reinsurance contract assets and liabilities of contracts held measured under the PAA

(continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023
ARC AIC
Risk
Excluding Present value adjustment
loss Loss of future for non-
component component cash flows  financial risk Total
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS$
As at 1 January 2023:
Reinsurance contract assets (2,011,711) 281,021 25,931,574 3,241,447 27,442,331
Allocation of reinsurance
premiums (6,547,583) - - - (6,547,583)
Amounts recovered from
reinsurers
- incurred claims recovery and
other incurred reinsurance
service expenses - - 3,397,196 840,897 4,238,093
- recognition and reversal of loss
recovery component - 166,244 - - 166,244
- changes in expected recoveries
on past claims - - (5,512,538) (142,828) (5,655,366)
Net expenses from reinsurance
contracts held (6,547,583) 166,244 (2,115,342) 698,069 (7,798,612)
Insurance finance income or
expenses from reinsurance
contracts recognised in profit
or loss - - 216,680 123,221 339,901
Total changes in the statement
of comprehensive income (6,547,583) 166,244 (1,898,662) 821,290 (7,458,711)
Premiums paid net of ceding
comrmissions 6,822,830 - - - 6,822,830
Recoveries from reinsurance - - (2,847,471) - (2,847,471)
Total cash flows 6,822,830 - (2,847,471) - 3,975,359
Net reinsurance contract assets
as at 31 December 2023,
represented by reinsurance

contract assets (1,736,464)

447,265 21,185,441 4,062,737 23,958,979
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(4) Movement of reinsurance contract assets and liabilities of contracts held measured under the GMM

ARC (Excluding loss component)

2024 2023
HK$ HK$
Net reinsurance contract assets as at 1 January (28,248) -
Allocation of reinsurance premiums (188,522) (28,248)
Net expenses from reinsurance contracts held (188,522) (28,248)
Insurance finance income or expenses from reinsurance
contracts recognised in profit or loss 385 -
Total changes in the statement of comprehensive income (188,137) (28,248)
Premiums paid net of ceding commissions and other
directly attributable expenses paid - -
Recoveries from reinsurance - -
Total cash flows - -
Net reinsurance contract liabilities as at 31 December,
represented by reinsurance contract liabilities (216,385) (28,248)
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(5) Analysis by measurement component of insurance contract issued measured under the GMM

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Estimates of the Risk adjustment

Present value of for non-
FCF financial risk CSM Total
HKS$ HK$ HKS$ HK$

Net insurance contract liabilities

as at 1 January 2024 (1,439,178) (1,482,052) (1,995,205) (4,916,435)
CSM recognised for the

service provided 617,263 112,959 128,457 858,679
Changes that relate to current

service 617,263 112,959 128,457 858,679
Insurance service result 617,263 112,959 128,457 858,679
Insurance finance expenses from

insurance contracts issued (57,560) (59,221) 115,613 (1,168)
Total changes in the statement of

comprehensive income 559,703 53,738 244,070 857,511
Premiums received (4,938,800) - - (4,938,800)
Insurance acquisition cash flows 839,596 - - 839,596
Total cash flows (4,099,204) - - (4,099,204)
Net insurance contract liabilities

as at 31 December 2024,

represented by insurance contract

liabilities (4,978,679) (1,428,314)  (1,751,135)  (8,158,128)
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(5) Analysis by measurement component of insurance contract issued measured under the GMM (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
Estimates of the Risk adjustment

Present value of for non-
FCF financial risk CSM Total
HK$ HKS$ HK$ HK$

Net insurance contract liabilities

as at 1 January 2023 - - - -
CSM recognised for the

service provided 91,231 16,695 20,154 128,080
Change in the risk adjustment for

non-financial risk for the risk

expired - (475,013) 475,013 -
Changes that relate to current

service 91,231 (458,318) 495,167 128,080
Contracts initially recognised in the

year 3,457,200 (1,007,157) (2,450,043) -
Changes that relate to future

service 3,457,200 (1,007,157) (2,450,043) -
Insurance service result 3,548,431 (1,465,475) (1,954,876) 128,080
Insurance finance expenses from

insurance contracts issued 56,906 (16,577) (40,329) -
Total changes in the statement of

comprehensive income 3,605,337 (1,482,052) (1,995,205) 128,080
Premiums received (6,077,729) - - (6,077,729)
Insurance acquisition cash flows 1,033,214 - - 1,033,214
Total cash flows (5,044,515) - - (5,044,515)
Net insurance contract liabilities

as at 31 December 2023,

represented by insurance contract

liabilities (1,439,178) (1,482,052) (1,995205)  (4,916,435)
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16. Insurance contracts (continued)

(6) Analysis by measurement component of reinsurance contract held measured under the GMM

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Estimates of the Risk adjustment

Present value of for non-
FCF financial risk CSM Total
HKS$ HKS$ HK$ HK$
Net reinsurance contract assets as at
1 January 2024 (591,396) 479,976 83,172 (28,2438)
CSM recognised for the service
provided (148,829) (36,612) (3,081) (188,522)
Changes that relate to current
service (148,829) (36,612) (3,081) (188,522)
Net expenses from reinsurance
contracts held (148,829) (36,612) (3,081) (188,522)
Insurance finance expenses from
reinsurance contracts held 19,323 19,151 (38,089) 385
Total changes in the statement of
comprehensive income (129,506) (17,461) (41,170) (188,137)
Premiums paid net of ceding
Commissions - - - -
Recoveries from reinsurance - - - -
Total cash flows - - - -
Net reinsurance contract liabilities
as at 31 December 2024,
represented by reinsurance
42,002 (216,385)

contract liabilities (720,902) 462,515
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16. Insurance contracts (continued)

(6) Analysis by measurement component of reinsurance contract held measured under the GMM (continued)

Net reinsurance contract assets as at
1 January 2023

CSM recognised for the service
provided

Change in the risk adjustment for
non-financial risk for the risk
expired

Changes that relate to current
service

Reinsurance contracts initially
recognised in the year

Changes that relate to future
service

Net expenses from reinsurance
contracts held

Insurance finance expenses from
reinsurance contracts held

Total changes in the statement of
comprehensive income

Premiums paid net of ceding
Commissions
Recoveries from reinsurance

Total cash flows

Net reinsurance contract liabilities
as at 31 December 2023,
represented by reinsurance
contract liabilities

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Estimates of the
Present value of
FCF
HK$

(21,997)

(21,997)

(560,192)
(560,192)
(582,189)

(9,207)

(591,396)

(591,396)
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Risk adjustment
for non-
financial risk
HK$

(5,411)
238,747

233,336

242,652
242,652
475,988

3,988

479,976

479,976

CSM Total
HK$ HK$
(840) (28,248)
(238,747) -
(239,587) (28,248)
317,540 -
317,540 -
77,953 (28,248)
5,219 -
83,172 (28,248)
83,172 (28,248)
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(7) Expected release of the contractual service margin

An analysis of expected release of the CSM remaining at the end of the reporting period in profit or
loss is provided in the following table:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Insurance Reinsurance

contracts contracts

Number of years until expected to be released issued held

HK$ HK$

Within 1 year 625,472 15,002

More than 1 year but less than 2 years 589,684 14,144

More than 2 years but less than 3 years 365,124 7,705

More than 3 years but less than 4 years 170,857 5,151

Total 1,751,137 42,002
For the year ended 31 December 2023

Insurance Reinsurance

contracts contracts

Number of years until expected to be released issued held

HK$ HKS$

Within 1 year 136,358 5,684

More than 1 year but less than 2 years 663,945 27,677

More than 2 years but less than 3 years 625,955 26,094

More than 3 years but less than 4 years 388,278 14,215

More than 4 years but less than 5 years 180,669 9,502

Total 1,995,205 83,172
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17. Property and equipment

At valuation At cost
Leasehold Leasehold
land and improvement,
building held furniture and Motor
for own use fixtures vehicle Total
HK$ HKS$ HK$ “HKS$
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2023 45,000,000 2,287,434 529,514 47,816,948
Addition - - 807,708 807,708
Disposals - - (529,514) (529,514)
Adjustment on revaluation (4,000,000) - - (4,000,000)
At 31 December 2023
and 1 January 2024 41,000,000 2,287,434 807,708 44,095,142
Adjustment on revaluation (4,000,000) - - (4,000,000)
At 31 December 2024 37,000,000 2,287,434 807,708 40,095,142
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2023 1,287,018 1,533,464 451,973 3,272,455
Charge for the year 643,509 166,645 104,465 914,619
Adjustment on revaluation (1,930,527) - - (1,930,527)
Eliminated upon disposals - - (529,514) (529,514)
At 31 December 2023
and 1 January 2024 - 1,700,109 26,924 1,727,033
Charge for the year 449311 166,258 161,541 777,110
Adjustment on revaluation (449,311) - - (449,311)
At 31 December 2024 - 1,866,367 188,465 2,054,832
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2024 37,000,000 421,067 619,243 38,040,310
At 31 December 2023 41,000,000 587,325 780,784 42,368,109

Fair value measurement of the Company’s leasehold land and building held for own use

The Company’s leasehold land and building held for own use are stated at their revalued amounts, being
the fair value at the date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any. The latest valuation on the Company’s leasehold land and building
held for own use was performed at 31 December 2024 by B. I. Appraisals Limited, an independent firm of
professional valuers not related to the Company. B. I. Appraisals Limited is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors, and they have appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the fair value
measurement of properties in the relevant locations.
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17. Property and equipment (continued)

The recurring fair value measurement for leasehold land and buildings as at 31 December 2024 is
categorised as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair values of the leasehold land and building held
for own use as at 31 December 2024 was determined using direct comparison method by making reference
to comparable sales evidence of offerings as available in the relevant market. Relevant comparable
properties are analysed and considered with adjustments including location, time, size, building quality
and others as appropriate. The most significant input into this valuation approach is price per square foot.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there is no transfer between the levels of fair value
hierarchy.

The revaluation gave rise to a net revaluation deficit of HK$2,964,826 (2023: HK$1,728,010) after
applicable deferred income tax, which has been debited to the property revaluation reserve as at 31
December 2024.

As a 31 December 2024, if the leasehold land and buildings had not been revalued, they would have been

included in the financial statements at historical cost less accumulated depreciation, which is
HK$5,932,452 (2023: HK$5,942,935).

18. Investment in a subsidiary

2024 2023
HKS HKS$
At cost, unlisted 150,000 150,000
Less: impairment loss (150,000) -
- 150,000
Particular of the subsidiary is as follows:
Number of
Place of ordinary shares Percentage
Name of incorporation issued and fully Paid-in of equity
subsidiary and business paid capital held Principal activity
Harbour Faith Hong Kong 100 HK$100 100% Inactive
International Limited (2023 : 100) (2023: HK$100) (2023:
100%)
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19. Deposits, prepayments, interest and other receivables

Deposits
Prepayments
Interest receivables
Levy receivables

20. Deferred tax

At 1 January 2023

(Credited)/charged
to profit or loss for
the year

Credited to other
comprehensive
income for the year

At 31 December 2023
and 1 January 2024

(Credited)/charged
to profit or loss for
the year

Credited to other
comprehensive
income for the year

At 31 December 2024

2024 2023
HKS$ HK$
125,651 125,651
179,630 141,440
656,274 1,072,248
893,136 1,451,530
1,854,691 2,790,869
Fair value
adjustment Revaluation
Accelerated of equity of leasehold
tax Unused Insurance  investments land and
depreciation tax losses contracts at FVTPL building Total
HKS$ HK$ HKS HK$ HK$ HKS$
(36,236)  (6,649,476) 453,833 16,583 6,215,296 -
89,489 647,454 (322,939) (72,541) - 341,463
- - - - (341,463) (341,463)
53,253 (6,002,022) 130,894 (55,958) 5,873,833 -
(38,895) 410,120 211,298 3,340 - 585,863
- - - - (585,863) (585,863)
14,358 (5,591,902) 342,192 (52,618) 5,287,970 -

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had unused tax losses of HK$70,753,994 (2023: HK$80,919,836)
available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset amounting to HK$5,591,902 (2023:
HK$6,002,022) has been recognised in respect of tax losses of HK$33,890,315 (2023: HK$36,375,891).
No deferred tax has been recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses of HK$36,863,679 (2023:
HK$44,543,945) as at 31 December 2024 due to unpredictability of future profit streams. Tax losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.
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21. Share capital

Number of
ordinary shares HK$
Issued and fully paid :
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024
and 31 December 2024 7,920,288 104,425,418

There is no change in share capital for both years.

Capital management

The Company’s capital includes the components of total equity. The Company’s primary objectives when
managing capital are to ensure that the Company complies with externally imposed capital requirements
and statutory solvency requirements and to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.

The Company manages capital by regularly monitoring its solvency margin and its current and expected
liquidity requirements rather than using debt/equity analyses. The Company’s operation is mainly sourced
from internally generated funds.

As at 31 December 2024

The Hong Kong Risk-based Capital (‘HKRBC”) regime has been effective since 1 July 2024 under the
Insurance Ordinance and the Company is required to maintain its capital, which is determined in
accordance with the Insurance (Valuation and Capital) Rules (“IVCR™), not less than the prescribed capital
amount (“PCA”) or HK$20,000,000, whichever is higher.

As at 31 December 2024, the HKRBC solvency margin ratio of the Company is as follows:

2024

HK$°000

Capital base 84,152
PCA 39,017

HKRBC Solvency ratio 215.7%

The Company defines “capital base” is the eligible capital as determined in accordance with IVCR and
“HKRBC solvency ratio” is the ratio of capital base to PCA.

As at 31 December 2023

Before the effective date of HKRBC regime, the Company was required to maintain a paid-up share capital
of not less than HK$20,000,000 and was required by the Insurance Ordinance to have assets value, which
was measured in accordance with the preceding Insurance (General Business) (Valuation) Rules, not less
than the total of its liabilities plus the relevant amount applicable to the Company, which was
HK$20,000,000.
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21.

22.

Share capital (continued)

Capital management (continued)

As at 31 December 2023 (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the preceding Insurance Ordinance’s solvency margin ratio of the Company is
as follows:

2023
HKS$
Total available capital 56,283,895
Relevant amount 20,000,000

Solvency ratio 281.4%

The Company defines “total available capital” as the amount of assets in excess of liabilities measured in
accordance with the Insurance Ordinance and “relevant amount” as the relevant account applicable to the
Company as required under the Insurance Ordinance. The “solvency ratio” is the ratio of total available
capital to required capital.

As at 31 December 2023, the relevant premium income, relevant claims outstanding and relevant amount
applicable as defined in section 10 of the preceding Insurance Ordinance amounted to HK$48,271,356,
HK$62,518,601 and HK$20,000,000 respectively.

The Company complied with all regulatory capital requirements for both years.

Related party transactions

(a) Key management personnel compensation

2024 2023
HK$ HK$
Short-term employee benefits 4,083,431 3,862,910
Post-employment benefits 50,175 50,827

4,133,606 3,913,737

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 11 to the financial statements.
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(b) Transactions with other related parties

The following transactions occurred with related parties:

2024 2023
HKS$ HKS$
Rental income received from a company controlled by
a director 166,320 166,320
Legal and professional fee paid to a partnership controlled by
a director 1,627,650 1,824,875
(c¢) Balance due with related parties
2024 2023
HKS$ HKS$
Rental deposit received from a company controlled by
a director 27,720 27,720
23. Leases
As a lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Company leases a portion of its leasehold land and buildings under
operating lease. The lease typically runs for an initial period of two years. Lease income from lease
contracts in which the Company acts as a lessor is as below:

2024 2023
HKS$ HK$
Operating leases — fixed rental income received 166,320 166,320

The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease payments, showing the undiscounted lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases to be received after the end of the reporting period:

2024 2023

HKS$ HK$

Within 1 year 166,320 110,880
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 110,880 -
277,200 110,880
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